IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SURREME COURT.

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

OCT 1 1991

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 78,553

DAVID MICHAEL MCLEOD,

Respondent.

# PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARLES T. FAIRCLOTH, JR. ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0878936

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

#

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the prosecuting authority in the trial court and the appellant in the First District Court of Appeal, and will be referred to as "the state" in this brief. Respondent was the defendant in the trial court and the appellee in the First District Court of Appeal, and will be referred to as "McLeod" in this brief. The record will be referred to as "R" followed by the appropriate page number, both within parentheses. Exhibits listed in the appendix to this brief will be referred to as "Ex." followed by the appropriate letter, both within parentheses.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, the State of Florida, on February 23, 1990, charged the respondent, David Michael McLeod with one count of driving under the influence of alcoholic beverages or controlled substances with a blood alcohol level of .10% or higher, and by reason of his impaired operation causing serious bodily injury to Julie A. Lindsey in violation of \$316.193(3)(c)2, Florida Statutes. (R 1). McLeod entered a plea of no contest to the charge, (R 16-17), and was sentenced on June 21, 1990 (R 18-22). The state sought restitution as part of McLeod's sentence. (R 65).

The trial court retained jurisdiction as the issue of restitution at the sentencing. (R 22). The court reserved jurisdiction to determine the amount of restitution due, if any. The lower court held the restitution hearing on July 16, 1990, and heard oral argument both for and against the award of restitution. (R 63-91). On July 31, 1990, the trial court entered an order denying the state's motion for restitution (R 47-54). The state then filed a timely notice of appeal (R 55) and an initial brief in the cause before the First District Court of Appeal.

On May 1, 1991, McLeod filed a motion to dismiss the appeal. The district court then entered an order to show cause why the motion to dismiss should not be granted on May 10, 1991. The state filed its response to the district court's order on May 20, 1991. On June 21, 1991, the

district court entered its order on McLeod's motion to dismiss and dismissed the appeal for lack of jurisdiction, finding that the lower court's order denying the state's motion for restitution was not an appealable order when the lower court gave reasons for its denial of restitution (Ex. B).

The State then filed a motion for rehearing and certification, along with a motion for rehearing en banc. The district court, in a per curiam opinion issued on August 21, 1991 (Ex. A), denied the state's motion for rehearing but granted the motion for certification and found that the following question was one of great public importance:

WHETHER A TRIAL COURT'S ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR RESTITUTION PURSUANT TO SECTION 775.089, FLORIDA STATUTES (1989) MAY BE APPEALED BY THE STATE?

The State next filed its notice invoking the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court on September 3, 1991. This Court then entered its order postponing decision on jurisdiction and directing the state to file its brief on the merits on or before September 30, 1991. This brief follows.

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should answer the certified question in the A trial court's order that denies a motion for restitution by the state is appealable by the state since such an order produces an illegal sentence considering the restitution, mandatory nature of the statutorily unauthorized factors considered by the trial court entering its order, and the repeated legislative reductions of trial courts' sentencing discretion restitution. Not allowing an appeal from a trial court's order denying restitution is also a violation of a victim's right to be heard at all crucial stages of criminal proceedings given under Article I, Section 16, of the Florida Constitution. Also, the trial court in the present case denied restitution to the victim as a matter of law. When the state appeals from a ruling on a matter of law adverse to it, the appellate court is statutorily required to decide the question.

Further, the trial court in the present case erred when it denied the State's motion for restitution because a prior insurance settlement does not bar the state from seeking restitution for a victim of crime. In denying the motion, the trial court imposed an illegal sentence and committed reversible error. This Court, should it choose to reach the merits of this issue, should reverse the trial court's order denying restitution and remand the case for a hearing on the amount of restitution.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### **ISSUE**

WHETHER THE STATE MAY APPEAL FROM A TRIAL COURT'S ORDER DENYING THE STATE'S MOTION FOR RESTITUTION.

The Court should answer the certified question in the positive. Section 775.089, Fla. Stat. (1989) reads in pertinent part:

- (1)(a) In addition to any punishment, the court shall order the defendant to make restitution to the victim for damage or loss caused directly or indirectly by the defendant's offense, unless it finds clear and compelling reasons not to order such restitution....The court shall make the payment of restitution a condition to probation in accordance with §948.03.
- (b) If the court does not order restitution, or orders restitution of only a portion of the damages, as provided in this section, it shall state on the record in detail the reasons therefor.
- (6) The court, in determining whether to award restitution and the amount of such restitution, shall consider the amount of the loss sustained by any victim as a result of the offense, the financial resources of the defendant, the present and potential future financial needs and earning ability of the defendant and his dependents, and such other factors which it deems appropriate.

Section 921.187(2), Fla. Stat. (1989) reads in pertinent part:

(2) The court shall require an offender to make restitution pursuant to §775.089, unless the court finds clear and compelling reasons not to order such restitution as provided in that section. If the court does not order restitution, or orders restitution of only a portion of the damages, as provided in §775.089, the court shall state on the record in detail the reasons therefor.

Under both these statutory sections restitution is mandatory absent clear and compelling reasons not to order Grice v. State, 528 So.2d 1347 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) it. ("these statutes reflect clear legislative mandate for imposition of restitution as part of a sentence."); Dickens v. State, 556 So.2d 782 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1990) ("Under this section [775.089], the court must award restitution for 'damages or loss caused directly or indirectly by the defendant's offense."). The reasons submitted by the trial court to deny restitution in the instant case were neither clear or compelling, nor were the reasons cited by the court permitted to be considered under the restitution statute. Thus the state now contends that based on the mandatory nature of restitution and the trial court's consideration of improper factors outside the purview of the restitution statute, the trial court's order denying the state's motion for restitution created an illegal sentence which authorizes this appeal.

continually heightened standard to not award restitution also supports the contention that the state may appeal from a trial court's order denying restitution on the ground that such an order results in an illegal sentence. The district court's order below would disallow appeal by the state of a trial court's order denying restitution if the lower court gave any reasons on the record to not order The clear and compelling standard in the restitution. statute is thus rendered meaningless, contrary to principles of statutory construction. To not allow an appeal from the denial of restitution also violates the constitutional right of victims to be heard at each crucial step in a criminal proceeding given under Article I, Section 16 of the Florida Constitution. Further, the trial court in the present case denied the victim restitution by its ruling on a question of law; whether a civil settlement between the victim and the defendant and his insurer bars the state form seeking restitution. When the state appeals from a ruling on a question of law adverse to the state, the appellate court is statutorily required to answer the question.

#### I. The Problem Facing the State

At first glance, the problem facing the state in the proceeding is convincing this Court that a trial court's order denying the state's motion for restitution is an order from which the state may appeal. Orders from which the state may appeal are listed in §924.07, Fla. Stat. (1989)

and Fla.R.App.P. 9.140(c) and orders denying restitution are not included on either list. However, the effect of the trial court's order denying restitution was the imposition of an illegal sentence, from which the state may appeal. \$924.07(1)(e), Fla. Stat. (1989) (the state may appeal from the sentence, on the ground that it is illegal). The state is apparently not required to show the illegality of the sentence, but merely required to allege that the sentence is illegal. See, <a href="State v. Pilcher">State v. Pilcher</a>, 443 So.2d 366 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983) <a href="Override">Over'rld</a> on other grounds, <a href="Williams v. State">Williams v. State</a>, 517 So.2d 681 (Fla. 1988) (state may appeal from an alleged illegal sentence).

Thus, the actual problem in this appeal is to prove to this Court that a trial court's order denying restitution results in an illegal sentence. This problem is principally caused by the wording of the restitution statute, which directs that the trial court shall order the defendant to pay restitution to the victim unless the court finds clear and compelling reasons not to order restitution. §775.089(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1989). The factors the trial court may consider in making its decision whether to award restitution and in what amount are found in §775.089(6), supra, and include the amount of the loss sustained by the victim as a result of the offense, the financial resources of the defendant, the present and potential future financial and earning ability of the defendant and his needs dependents and such other factors the court deems as

appropriate. While the amount of the defendant's insurance policy was mentioned by the trial court in its order denying the state's motion for restitution, the court did not consider any of the statutorily-required factors. (R 47-54). The one reason the court relied on to deny restitution was the victim's guardian signing a release and settlement agreement upon payment of the proceeds of the defendant's insurance policy by his insurer. (R 48). In sum, the court's order was unauthorized under the terms of the restitution statute and imposed an illegal sentence.

# II. Why The Trial Court's Order Was Statutorily Unauthorized.

The order was unauthorized because it did not consider the factors §775.089(6), Fla. Stat. (1989) requires to be considered when a court determines whether to award restitution. (R 47-54). Further, the one reason the court relied on, the release and settlement agreement, could not be considered by the terms of subsection (6). The subsection, supra, sets out specific factors the court must consider, which are followed by a general statement that the trial court may consider such other factors which it deems appropriate.

Under the principle of *ejusdem generis*, where a statute employs general words after a class is particularly enumerated, the general words are construed to be limited to the same class or character as those specifically

enumerated. See, Doe v. Naval Air Station, Pensacola, Fla., 768 F.2d 1229 (11th Cir. 1985); Soverino v. State, 356 So.2d 269 (Fla. 1978) (classes of persons); State ex rel. Soodhalter v. Baker, 248 So.2d 468 (Fla. 1971); D.A.O. v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 561 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). Thus, under §775.089(6), the trial court's consideration of "such other factors which it deems appropriate" is limited to consideration of other factors within the same class or of the same character as the specifically enumerated factors; the losses of the victim and the financial needs and resources of the defendant. trial court in the present case, however, did not limit its consideration to such factors but went completely outside of the permitted factors and considered а contractual obligation entered into by the victim's guardian, a contract to which the state was not even a party. Such a consideration is not in conformance with the terms of the statute and a sentence imposed by a trial court must conform to all other statutory provisions. §921.001(5), Fla.Stat. While a trial court's sentencing order that is imposed within the bounds of a statute is not subject to appellate review, Gallucci v. State, 371 So.2d 148 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979), the trial court's consideration of factors not authorized by the restitution statute while not considering the required factors plainly moved the sentence outside the bounds of the statue. The court's order, therefore, was erroneous. See, Olivero v. State, 16 F.L.W. D2002 (Fla. 4th

DCA July 31, 1991) (sentence imposing restitution without consideration of the required factors was error requiring reversal and remand).

III. Why The Trial Court's Order Resulted In An Illegal Sentence.

Besides being in error, a trial court's sentencing order that is not statutorily authorized results sentence that is illegal and appealable by the state. State v. Allen, 553 So.2d 176 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) (order mitigating sentence by procedural circumvention of the sentencing guidelines is appealable by the state as an illegal sentence under §924.07(1)(e), Fla. Stat.); Zimmerman v. State, 467 So.2d 1119 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (failure to impose statutorily mandated fine resulted in an illegal sentence even though sentence could be mitigated on motion by the state); Easton v. State, 472 So.2d 1369 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985) (sentencing order unauthorized by statute infringing on executive authority was wholly erroneous and should be stricken); see also, Kelly v. State, 359 So.2d 493 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978) (20 year sentence imposed when statutory minimum sentence was 30 years was illegal). In short, in the face of a legislative mandate to award restitution, the trial court in the present case took it upon itself to consider factors totally outside the purview of restitution statute and mitigate the required sentence when a defendant is placed on probation, §775.089(1)(a) ("The

court shall make the payment of restitution condition of probation...) and the defendant's offense has resulted in bodily injury to the victim. §775.089(2), Fla. Stat. (1989). Such a sentence is illegal and the state may appeal it.

Further, the state would compare the trial court's denial of the state's motion for restitution for statutorily unauthorized reasons to a trial court's departure from the sentencing quidelines for unauthorized reasons. The role of an appellate court in applying the old standard (since removed) in sentencing guidelines cases was to review the reasons given to support departure and determine whether the trial court abused its discretion in finding those reasons to be clear and convincing. Davis v. State, 517 So.2d 670, 672 (Fla. 1987); State v. Mischler, 488 So.2d 523, 525 (Fla. The appellate court's role in the instant case should be similar, as restitution in mandatory absent clear short, and compelling reasons. In like quidelines sentences, restitution is required unless the trial court's reasons to not award it meet the statutory standard.

An appeal by the state from the issue of whether the reasons given by the trial court meet the clear and convincing standard for departure is a matter of right.

Mitchell v. State, 458 So.2d 10 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984)

(pursuant to §921.001(5), Fla. Stat.). This Court in Albritton v. State, 476 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1985) stated:

The district court affirmed on the basis that "a departure sentence can be upheld on appeal if it is supported by any valid ("clear and convincing") reasons without the necessity of a remand in every case." The district court also held the extent of departure from the guidelines is not subject to appellate review provided there is no violation of the maximum statutory sentence authorized by the legislature for the offense in question. We disagree on both points.

Id., at 159 (citations omitted); see, <u>Deer v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 163, 164 (Fla. 1985) ("In <u>Albritton</u>..., we held that the extent of departure is subject to appellate review in order to determine whether the departure was excessive.")

Just as the state may appeal from a trial court's sentencing order that is based on improper reasons for departure the state should be allowed to appeal from a trial court's sentencing order regarding restitution when that order is based on improper reasons. The trial court's order refused to impose restitution as a condition of McLeod's probation and may be appealed. See, State v. McGraw, 474 So.2d 289 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985) (order of probation may be appealed as an illegal sentence, being a dispositive order upon conviction). The trial court's order in the present case also struck the entirety of the state's and victim's claim of restitution, another reason to allow an appeal. See, Gries Investment Co. v. Chelton, 388 So.2d 1281 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980) (an order which strikes the entirety of a claim is the equivalent of an order which dismisses, and

either is final and appealable). The trial court's order denying restitution, in sum, was an unlawful mitigation of a statutorily mandated sentence for reasons unauthorized by court's order refused the statute. The to impose restitution as a condition of McLeod's probation as the statute directs and also effectively struck the state's and victim's claim for restitution. The order was therefore improper, unauthorized, and resulted in an illegal sentence which may be appealed.

# IV. Why The Sentence Was Illegal Rather Than Incomplete

There are several cases from Florida appellate courts that apparently hold a trial court's failure to award restitution results in an incomplete sentence rather than an illegal one: Grice v. State, supra; State v. Butz, 568 So.2d 537 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); State v. Martin, 16 F.L.W. D1661 (Fla. 1st DCA June 21, 1991); and the instant case (Ex. B). But in all of these cases, bar the instant one, the question of whether the failure to award restitution resulted in an illegal sentence was either not reached or was decided based on a factual or procedural situation peculiar to that case.

In <u>Grice</u>, supra, the court simply found it unnecessary to determine whether the original sentence in the case, which did not include restitution, was either illegal or incomplete. <u>Grice</u>, 528 So.2d at 1350. In <u>Butz</u>, supra, the Fourth District agreed that the failure to impose restitution resulted in an incomplete sentence, but then

went on to state that under the facts of the case, it could not say the failure to include restitution resulted in an illegal sentence. Butz, 568 So.2d at 537. The factual situation the court alluded to was the state failing to request restitution, along with the trial court's failure to order it or to even enter reasons for not ordering it. trial court finally denied the state's motion to impose restitution based on a lack of jurisdiction. Id. not the present case. In the present case, the state explicitly requested restitution and the trial court refused trial for improper reasons. The court plainly jurisdiction to enter an order imposing restitution within the sixty-day limitation of Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.800.

# In Martin, supra, the First District stated:

The failure to impose restitution did not make the sentence an illegal one, which would be subject to correction at Instead, the failure to time. order restitution must be brought to the trial court's attention corrected within 60 days. The failure to impose restitution does not result illegal sentence, only incomplete sentence which is subject to That modification. modification, however, must be made within 60 days.

# Id., 16 F.L.W. at D1001 (citations omitted).

The state would make two points regarding Martin and the present case: first, the trial court in the present case did not <u>fail</u> to order restitution, it <u>refused</u> to order restitution when the state requested it. The refusal was

based on reasons that were neither considerations permitted under the statute nor reasons that fulfilled the clear and compelling standard. Second, even if the trial court's actions in the present case were to be regarded as a failure to order restitution which only resulted in an incomplete, unappealable sentence, Martin plainly specifies that the be corrected or modified sentence must to include the period of the trial restitution during court's jurisdiction. The trial court did not correct its sentence while it had jurisdiction and thus the sentence was illegal and subject to appeal by the state.

V. Why The "Clear and Compelling" Standard Compels
Appellate Review

The First District's order on McLeod's motion to dismiss (Ex. B) set out the court's reasons for not finding the denial of restitution to be an illegal sentence:

This court is...presented with the question for the first time of whether the state may seek review of the trial court's order on restitution where no jurisdictional defect was present in the lower tribunal.

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