FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OCT 31 1991

CASE NO. 78,553

FIRST DCA CASE NO. 90-2938

CLERK, SUPREME COURTS

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Petitioner,

vs.

DAVID MICHAEL MacLEOD Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LAW OFFICES OF MARK KING LEBAN, P.A. 2720 Southeast Financial Center 200 South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131-5302 (305) 374-5500 Fla. Bar No. 147920

BY: MARK KING LEBAN Counsel for Respondent

TOPICAL

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Neither section 924.07(1)(e), Florida Statutes, nor Rule 9.140(c)(1)(I), Fla.R.App.P., provides for a State appeal of an order denying restitution, and since the State's right to appeal is purely statutory, and statutes which afford the right to a state appeal must be narrowly construed, the First District correctly determined that the State had no right to appeal in this case. This Court's decisions repeatedly refuse to judicially legislate a State right to appeal particular orders where the statutes do not expressly provide for an appeal, and the legislature properly

responds in such circumstances where it deems appropriate. The State's argument here is best directed to the legislature, and not to this Court.

The trial court's detailed and well reasoned order fully complied with Florida's restitution statute's requirement of stating reasons for a partial or complete denial of restitution, and those reasons were well within the broad discretion conferred by the statute upon the trial court. The statute is not nearly as limited as the State asserts, and the trial judge's careful consideration of the terms of the civil settlement agreement voluntarily entered into by the victim is directly related to the "amount of loss" factor specifically enumerated by the restitution statute.

There is no analogy between sentencing guideline departures, from which the State may appeal by express statutory authorization, and restitution orders which are directed to the trial courts' broad discretion and from which there is no express, or even implied, statutorily authorized appeal. Far from limiting and restricting the trial courts' discretion in making restitution decisions, the legislature has broadened that discretion, a fact this Court emphasized in its <u>Spivey</u> decision. An order denying further restitution which is based on detailed and written reasons is not an illegal sentence, but one within the trial court's broad discretion.

A trial judge's discretionary order is to be distinguished from an illegal order for purposes of appellate review, a distinction which is crucial and fatal to the State's

appeal in this case. A discretionary act is unreasonable only where no reasonable person would take the view of the trial court. If reasonable people can differ, there is no abuse of discretion and certainly no illegality. Since the trial court's order here did not result in an illegal sentence, the State has no right to appeal. Thus, the certified question should be answered in the negative.

On the merits, the trial court did not abuse its broad discretion in considering the victim's voluntary settlement in order to determine the amount of the victim's damages, as required by statute. Enforcement of settlement agreements is favored in Florida and such settlements well serve the public policy of this State. Such a factor can and should properly impact the trial court's discretionary resolution of the victim's "amount of loss" and the court's resulting decision as to the amount of restitution, if any, it will impose upon the defendant, without doing violence to the separate penal goals accomplished by ordering restitution.

The decisions of Florida courts recognize the broad discretion conferred upon trial judges by Florida's restitution statute. Consideration of the settlement agreement in no way binds the State or precludes it from exercising its sovereign power to prosecute or to seek restitution over and above the amount of the settlement agreement. It is for the court, not the State, to determine punishment in the proper exercise of its discretion so long as the punishment is within statutory limits. The trial judge did not delegate his decision as to the amount of restitution to the victim, the defendant, or the insurance companies; instead, the

court itself determined the amount of restitution, if any, it would order. The court did so after engaging in a careful analysis of the terms and intent of the voluntary settlement agreement here.

No Florida decision relied upon by the State requires the trial judge to award restitution notwithstanding such an equivocal release as exits here. The foreign decisions relied upon by the State are clearly distinguishable and do not compel a result contrary to that reached by the trial court. Florida public policy highly favors settlement agreements and there is no express or implied prohibition of releases in Florida's restitution statute. The trial court's well reasoned order denying further restitution must be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE FIRST DISTRICT CORRECTLY HELD THAT A TRIAL COURT'S ORDER DENYING FURTHER RESTITUTION WHICH FULLY SETS FORTH REASONS THEREFOR AS REQUIRED BY STATUTE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN "ILLEGAL SENTENCE" AND IS THUS NOT APPEALABLE BY THE STATE ABSENT STATUTORY OR RULE AUTHORITY FOR SUCH APPEAL.

The defendant submits that the First District correctly held that a trial court's order denying the State's motion for restitution based upon articulated reasons for such denial does not constitute an "illegal sentence" and that, accordingly, it lacks jurisdiction to entertain the State's appeal pursuant to Rule 9.140(c)(1)(I), Fla.R.App.P.9

⁹Although not expressly cited by the First District, its lack of jurisdiction is additionally predicated upon the lack of statutory authority for the State's appeal of an order denying restitution pursuant to section 924.07(1)(e), Florida Statutes.

While the defendant is aware that this Court has temporarily postponed its decision on jurisdiction, and directed the parties to brief the merits, inasmuch as the State has addressed both questions, and the jurisdictional question is inextricably bound to the merits, the defendant, in an abundance of caution, will first proceed with an analysis of the jurisdictional issue.

We begin with the statutory and rule authority for State appeals. Section 924.07(1), Florida Statutes (1989), sets forth the statutory authority for State appeals. Only two subsections of the statute are at all pertinent to the case at bar. Section 924.07(1)(e), Florida Statutes, provides that "[t]he state may appeal from. ..[t]he sentence on the ground that it is illegal." Section 924.07(1)(j), Florida Statutes, provides that the State may appeal from "[a] sentence imposed outside the range recommended by the guidelines authorized by s.921.001." Clearly, it is only subsection (e) that impacts the case at bar.

The statute's counterpart in the rules of appellate procedure is Rule 9.140(c)(1)(I), Fla.R.App.P., providing that "[t]he State may appeal. . .[a]n illegal sentence." This Court has repeatedly held that "[t]he state's right to appeal is purely statutory and is found in Sectio[n] 924.07. . .". Whidden v. State, 159 Fla. 691, 32 So.2d 577, 578 (Fla. 1947); State v. Creighton, 469 So.2d 735, 737 (Fla. 1985); Ramos v. State, 505

¹⁰The Court's Commentary to this rule states that "[s]ubsection (c)(1) lists the <u>only</u> matters which may be appealed by the State. . .".

So.2d 418, 420 & n.2 (Fla. 1987). Recognizing this longstanding rule, the State makes a great effort to transform the trial judge's order denying further restitution in the case at bar into "an illegal sentence," arguing that "the <u>effect</u> of the trial court's order denying restitution was the imposition of an illegal sentence, from which the state may appeal." SB at 8. This is so, notwithstanding (1) the fact that the State's own notice of appeal characterizes the trial court's order as "a final order denying the State's Motion for Restitution," and (2) the fact that the State never argued that the order appealed resulted in an "illegal sentence" anywhere in its Initial Brief filed in the First District. 11

In any event, this Court has persistently refused to broadly construe the statutory bases upon which the State may appeal, steadfastly adhering to the rule that "statutes which afford the government the right to appeal in criminal cases should be construed narrowly." State v. Jones, 488 So.2d 527, 528 (Fla. 1986). In Jones, this Court refused to construe section 924.07(1)(a), Florida Statutes, which allows the State to appeal an order dismissing an indictment or information, to permit a State appeal of a trial court's order discharging an affidavit of violation of probation. Here, too, only if the trial judge's order denying further restitution can be construed as an "illegal sentence" would section 924.07(1)(e), Florida Statutes, allow an

¹¹Instead, the State repeatedly merely characterized the trial court's order as "an abuse of discretion." See State's Initial Brief in the First DCA at pages 9-10, 15, 21, 28.

appeal by the State. Such a construction of subsection (1)(e) would violate the mandate of <u>Jones</u> affording only a narrow construction of the State's statutory right to appeal. The State has failed to demonstrate why an order denying restitution constitutes an "illegal sentence," and indeed, the appellate courts of this State have consistently refused such a construction. 12

Much of the State's arguments have been answered unfavorably by this Court's decisions refusing to read into section 924.07 a right to appeal where none exists by the clear, and narrowly construed, terms of the statute. Thus, in State v. Creighton, 469 So.2d 735 (Fla. 1985), this Court held that since a trial court order granting a motion for judgment of acquittal "is not among the rulings set out in the statute and thereby identified as appealable by the state in criminal cases," the State could simply not appeal such an order. Id. at 737. This Court, citing Whidden, observed that "it is now generally held that, unless expressly provided for by statute, in criminal cases the state is

¹²In addition to the First District's decision in the case at bar, State v. MacLeod, 583 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), see State v. Martin, 577 So.2d 689, 690 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (trial court's order striking previously imposed restitution requirement "is not an order which may be appealed by the state pursuant to [the statute and rule]."); Dailey v. State, 575 So.2d 237, 238 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991) (characterizing sentence not imposing restitution "incomplete" but not "illegal"); State v. Butz, 568 So.2d 537 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990) (refusing to hold that trial judge's order failing to include restitution, "without stat[ing] its reasons for not so doing," results in an illegal sentence); Grice v. State, 528 So.2d 1347 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) (failure to order restitution results in "incomplete" sentence); see also State v. Bober, 16 FLW C113, 114 n.2 (12th Judicial Circuit, July 25, 1991) (collecting cases and observing that the First, Second, and Fourth Districts "have held that the failure to order restitution, even though mandated by law does not make a sentence illegal but merely incomplete.").

not entitled to appeal adverse judgments and orders." <u>Id</u>. at 740. Once again, the Court "reaffirm[ed] the principle that the state's right of appeal in criminal cases depends on statutory authorization <u>and is governed strictly by statute</u>." <u>Id</u>. 13

In Ramos v. State, 505 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1987), this Court construed section 924.07(4), Florida Statutes (1983), which provided for a State appeal from "a ruling on a question of law when the defendant is convicted and appeals from the judgment." The issue was whether the State could maintain a cross-appeal where the defendant voluntarily dismissed the underlying appeal, and this Court, strictly construing the statutory provision there at issue, held that "a cross-appeal by the state cannot survive the main appellant's voluntary dismissal of the main appeal." 505 So.2d at 421. Again, this Court adhered to the rule that "the state has only those rights of appeal as are expressly conferred by statute. Substantive rights conferred by law can neither be diminished nor enlarged by procedural rules adopted by this Court." Id.

Similarly, in <u>State v. Jones</u>, 488 So.2d 527 (Fla. 1986), this Court refused to construe the statute providing for an appeal

¹³When this Court strictly construed §924.07 as <u>not</u> allowing a State appeal, the legislature responded to <u>Creighton</u> by amending §924.07(1), adding subsection (j), providing for a State appeal of "[a] ruling granting a motion for judgment acquittal after a jury verdict." See chapter 87-243, §46, Laws of Florida.

¹⁴Once again, the legislature responded to this Court's proper reading of the then existing statutory authorization for State appeals by amending the statute to provide that "[o]nce the state's cross-appeal is instituted, the appellate court shall review and rule upon the question raised by the state regardless of the disposition of the defendant's appeal." §924.07(1)(d). This amendment, as was the case with <u>Creighton</u>, was effectuated by chapter 87-243, §46, Laws of Florida (1987).

from order dismissing an indictment or information to permit a State appeal of an order discharging an affidavit of violation of probation. While it was certainly arguable that an affidavit of violation of probation was analogous to an indictment or information, this Court insisted on a "narrow construction" of \$924.07, "reject[ing] [the State's] argument that a discharge of an affidavit of a violation of probation should be construed as equivalent to dismissing an information or indictment, thereby bringing such an appeal within the ambit of section 924.07, Florida Statutes." 488 So.2d at 528.15

In <u>State v. C.C.</u>, 476 So.2d 144 (Fla. 1985), this Court held that section 924.07 provided no statutory basis for State plenary or interlocutory appeals in juvenile cases. Even though, as this Court observed, juvenile delinquency matters are "criminal in nature, they are separate proceedings that are controlled by Chapter 39, Florida Statutes." <u>Id</u>. at 146. Thus, this Court refused to apply Chapter 924 to juvenile proceedings, effectively precluding the State from appeals in juvenile cases. ¹⁶ See also <u>E.N. v. State</u>, 484 So.2d 1210 (Fla. 1986). For yet another example of this Court's refusal to judicially create a State right to

¹⁵Again, the legislative response to <u>Jones</u> was to amend §924.07(1)(a), by expressly including in the list of dismissals from which the State may appeal "an order. . .dismissing an affidavit charging. . .the violation of probation. . .". See chapter 90-239, §1, Laws of Florida.

¹⁶Again, the legislative response was the passage of Chapter 86-251, §1, Laws of Florida, creating section 39.069(1)(b)(1)-(8), Florida Statutes (1990), and section 39.0711, Florida Statutes (1990), providing for State appeals of adverse rulings in juvenile delinquency matters.

appeal where none exists pursuant to statute, see <u>State v. Diers</u>, 532 So.2d 1271 (Fla. 1988), holding that the State could not appeal a Youthful Offender Act sentence even though that sentence was less than that prescribed by the sentencing guidelines. The controlling statute at the time was section 958.04, Florida Statutes (1985).¹⁷

These decisions, and the legislative responses, clearly demonstrate that this Court will strictly construe the statutes providing for State appeals, regardless of what might appear to be a harsh result. The cases and the legislative responses also demonstrate the proper balance between the branches of government. It is clearly not for the Court to rewrite or judicially legislate the law. Clearly, the State's argument here is best addressed to the legislature, and not to this Court.

In this regard, the State cogently points to the requirement in the restitution statute that if the trial judge denies restitution, or only orders a portion of restitution of damages incurred by a victim, the court must find "clear and compelling reasons not to order such restitution," §775.089(1)(a), and the court "shall state on the record in detail the reasons therefor." §775.089(1)(b). The State argues that if there is no right to appellate review of those reasons, "what purpose of force does the clear and compelling standard possess?" SB at 21. By finding no right to appeal, as did the First District, the "compelling standard is without meaning and is, for all practical

¹⁷The legislature, by enactment of chapter 87-110, §3, Laws of Florida, amended section 958.04(3), by providing for an appeal of such orders pursuant to §924.07.

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